City and County of San Francisco Long-Term Care Coordinating Council Assisted Living Workgroup

SUPPORTING AFFORDABLE ASSISTED LIVING IN SAN FRANCISCO

January 2019

CONTENTS

Executive Summaryi
Assisted Living Workgroup Membershipiii
Introduction and Background1
Supply and Demand: Key Findings
Small facilities are disappearing at a fast rate and are unlikely to return
Cost is – and will remain – a key barrier8
The City is a key funder of assisted living9
There is unmet need for affordable assisted living13
Recommended Strategies14
Sustain existing small businesses15
Increase access to existing ALF beds17
Develop new models for meeting needs19
Enhance state waiver program21
Conclusion23
Appendix A. ALF Operator Survey
Appendix B. Cost Estimates
Appendix C. DAAS-Subsidized ALF Placements
Appendix D. DPH-Subsidized ALF Placements
Appendix E. Additional Strategies

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Assisted living is a vital resource for many seniors and people with disabilities who are no longer able to live independently and safely. These facilities are a key piece of the City's service system, both supporting individuals living in the community to transition up to a more protective level of care when needed and also providing a more independent and community-like setting for consumers able to transition down from a more restrictive institutional setting. Maintaining an adequate supply of assisted living in San Francisco supports the movement of individuals through medical and mental health systems, ensuring that the right level of care is available and accessible when it is needed.

Over the last several years, the City's supply of assisted living – particularly affordable assisted living – has been declining. At the request of Mayor London Breed and Supervisor Norman Yee, the Long-Term Care Coordinating Council convened a workgroup to study this issue.

This report is the culmination of the Assisted Living Workgroup, which met between August 2018 and December 2018. Focusing primarily on the availability of assisted living for low-income persons, the scope of this work included facilities licensed as Residential Care Facilities for the Elderly (RCFEs) that support seniors age 60 and older and Adult Residential Facilities (ARFs) serving adults between ages 18 and 59. In this report, both types are collectively referred to as Assisted Living Facilities (ALFs).

The Assisted Living Workgroup examined factors that impact the supply of assisted living, as well as sources of consumer demand and unmet need, before delving into strategies to support access to affordable assisted living in San Francisco. This included study of assisted living subsidy programs managed by the San Francisco Department of Public Health (DPH) and Department of Aging and Adult Services (DAAS). Key findings and recommendations are summarized below.

FINDINGS RELATED TO SUPPLY AND DEMAND

- Small facilities are disappearing at a fast rate and are unlikely to return. The decline in ALF capacity has primarily occurred through the closure of the small facilities that have been more affordable and accessible for low-income persons. In particular, this has resulted in a significant bed loss for adults under age 60. Due to increased costs and shifting family interest, this trend will be difficult to reverse; while efforts should be taken to support the viability of these existing small businesses, this small home-based model may prove to be unsustainable in the long-term.
- Cost is and will continue to be a significant barrier. Estimates suggest the monthly breakeven rate per board and care home bed is, at minimum, well over two times higher than the \$1,058 state-set rate for Supplemental Security Income (SSI) recipients residing in assisted living. Moreover, larger facilities tend to charge closer to \$3,500 to \$5,000, and this cost increases greatly for specialized care needs. Given business costs, it is unlikely that new ALFs will cater to a lower-income population without outside funding or support. To secure ALF placement, SSI recipients will require a meaningful subsidy.

- The City is a key funder of ALF placement. Through DPH and DAAS programs, the City supports 586 placements at an overall cost of about \$11.2 million per year. Approximately 15% of ALF beds in San Francisco are supported with a City-funded subsidy. This is particularly pronounced among ARF beds: the City subsidizes approximately 42% of ARF beds. It is in the best interests of both the City and ALF operators to work together towards sustainability to ensure this critical resource remains available and clients are able to flow through systems of care.
- There is unmet need for low-income ALF placement in San Francisco. Available waitlist data suggests at least 103 individuals have expressed a need for subsidized ALF placement through the DPH placement program, the DAAS-funded Community Living Fund program, and the state's Assisted Living Waiver program.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on these findings, the Assisted Living Workgroup identified four major strategies to support the availability of affordable assisted living in San Francisco. Each strategy has two specific and actionable recommendations. While these require further conversation and planning to implement, these recommendations were identified by the Assisted Living Workgroup to have greatest likelihood of meaningfully supporting and/or expanding the City's supply of assisted living. These are:

Sustain existing small businesses by:

- Supporting business acumen skills to empower and support the viability of small ALFs
- Develop a workforce pipeline to provide trained caregiver staff with time-limited wage stipend

Increase access to existing ALF beds by:

- Increasing the rate for City-funded subsidies to ensure the City is able to secure ALF placement for low-income individuals
- Increasing the number of City-funded subsidies to increase availability of affordable ALF placement for low-income individuals

Develop new models by:

- Piloting the co-location of enhanced services and affordable housing to develop alternate resources for people on the verge of needing assisted living but able to live in the community with more intensive and coordinated supportive services
- Making space available for ALF operators at low cost to reduce a major operating expense and allow the City to more directly impact the resident population (e.g., support low-income ALFs)

Enhance the state Assisted Living Waiver program by:

- Increase use of existing ALW slots by individuals and facilities
- Advocating for expansion of the program to increase the number of Assisted Living Waiver slots

ASSISTED LIVING WORKGROUP MEMBERSHIP

The following individuals participated as members of the Assisted Living Workgroup and/or its subgroups on supply, demand, and strategies:

Alicia Neumann, UC San Francisco, Optimizing Aging Collaborative Allegra Fortunati, Felton Institute, LTC Ombudsman Program Anna Chodos, UC San Francisco, Optimizing Aging Collaborative Benson Nadell, Felton Institute, LTC Ombudsman Program Bernadette Navarro-Simeon, Progress Foundation Catherine Omalev, Controller's Office Cindy Kauffman, SF Department of Aging & Adult Services Dan Kaplan, SF Human Services Agency Dorie Paniza, 6Beds, Inc. Gina Wasdyke, 6Beds, Inc. Jarlene Choy, SF Board of Supervisors, Norman Yee Juliana Terheyden, Homebridge Kelly Hiramoto, SF Department of Public Health Laura Liesem, Institute on Aging Manish Goyal, SF Office of Economic and Workforce Development Mark Burns, Homebridge Max Gara, SF Department of Public Health Melissa McGee, SF Department of Aging & Adult Services Mike Wylie, Controller's Office Nereida Heller, Mayor's Office Roberta Mendonca, 6Beds, Inc. Rose Johns, SF Human Services Agency Ruth Zaltsmann, Dignity Health Shireen McSpadden, SF Department of Aging & Adult Services Valerie Coleman, SF Department of Aging & Adult Services

Wendy Lee, Controller's Office

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

In San Francisco, the decreasing availability and increasing cost of assisted living present real and significant barriers for individual consumers, as well as the service systems tasked with supporting older and disabled residents to live safely in the community. At the request of Mayor London Breed and Supervisor Norman Yee, the Long-Term Care Coordinating Council (LTCCC) convened a workgroup to study the need for assisted living, identify challenges that impact the ability of small facilities to stay open, and develop actionable recommendations to support the supply of assisted living beds in San Francisco. This report presents the key findings from the Assisted Living Workgroup and its recommendations to support the availability of affordable assisted living in San Francisco.

ASSISTED LIVING

Assisted living facilities offer supportive residential living for individuals who are no longer able to live safely independently. These facilities offer assistance with basic daily living tasks, provide around-theclock supervision, and support medication adherence. While most people with disabilities can live safely in the community, many persons with a higher level of functional impairment require this higher level of care, including those with dementia, intellectual disabilities, and other behavioral health needs. Unlike skilled nursing facilities or other medical care paid for by Medi-Cal or Medicare, assisted living care is predominantly a private-pay service, and the cost of assisted living is often prohibitively expensive: the average rate for the least expensive facilities in San Francisco is approximately \$4,300 per month.

Currently in San Francisco, there are 101 facilities and 2,518 total assisted living beds.¹ More specifically, this includes facilities licensed as Residential Care Facilities for the Elderly (RCFEs) that support seniors age 60 and older and Adult Residential Facilities (ARFs) serving adults between ages 18 and 59. Both types of facilities are collectively referred to as Assisted Living Facilities (ALFs) in this report. As shown below, the majority of facilities and beds are licensed as RCFEs.

, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	•	
Туре	Facilities	Beds
Residential Care Facilities for the Elderly (RCFEs)	59	2,040
Adult Residential Facilities (ARFs)	42	478
Total	101	2,518

Assisted Living Facilities and Beds by Type in San Francisco, 2018

Source: CA Department of Social Services, August 2018

¹ This analysis does not include Continuing Care Retirement Communities (CCRCs), which provide a continuum of aging care needs – from independent living to assisted living to skilled nursing care – to support residents as their needs increase. CCRCs are targeted to higher-income individuals; in addition to high monthly rates, CCRCs require an initial entry charge or "buy in" fee. Because of the significant differences in the CCRC model and relative inaccessibility of its ALF beds to the general public, these four facilities (which contain 984 ALF-licensed beds) are excluded here.

These facilities range from large-scale facilities with over 100 beds to small homes that house six or fewer clients (often called "board and care homes"). As the name describes, these are typically residential homes that have been opened up for boarders who require assistance around the home; residents typically share a bedroom with another resident and historically have lived under the same roof as the ALF administrator. All of these facilities are licensed by the California Department of Social Services' Community Care Licensing division.

ASSISTED LIVING WORKGROUP

The Assisted Living Workgroup met monthly between August and December 2018. During this time, smaller research groups met more frequently to investigate demand for assisted living, identify factors impacting the supply of assisted living in San Francisco, and develop potential strategies to support assisted living capacity in San Francisco.

In particular, the Assisted Living Workgroup focused on the availability of assisted living for lowincome persons unable to pay privately for this service. Through the San Francisco Department of Public Health (DPH) and Department of Aging and Adult Services (DAAS), the City provides subsidies for low-income individuals meeting certain eligibility criteria. However, this information had not been synthesized or studied in the context of broader trends affecting the industry, including overall system capacity, supply of affordable assisted living, and sources of consumer demand.

As part of this work, a **survey of small facility operators** was conducted to develop key information not available through existing reports and materials and to provide an additional opportunity for those directly impacted by these trends to have a voice in this work. The input ALF operators provided through this survey have directly informed the direction of this report and its recommendations; please see Appendix A for a detailed summary of findings.

Participants in the workgroup and smaller research teams included: representatives from communitybased organizations that serve older adults and people with disabilities; ALF operators and advocacy organizations (including 6 Beds, Inc.); medical and healthcare professionals, including the UC San Francisco Optimizing Aging Collaborative; the local Long-Term Care Ombudsman; and staff from key City agencies, including DAAS, DPH, the Human Services Agency, Office of the City Controller, and Office of Workforce and Economic Development. Research and analytical support was provided by staff from DAAS, HSA, and the Controller's Office.

SUPPLY AND DEMAND: KEY FINDINGS

Building upon the Assisted Living Workgroup's first report, *Assisted Living: Supply and Demand*, this section presents key findings and trends impacting the supply and demand of assisted living in San Francisco.

KEY FINDINGS

- Small facilities are disappearing at a fast rate and are unlikely to return. Assisted living has
 declined across both RCFEs and ARFs but primarily has occurred through the closure of small
 facilities, particularly the "board and care homes" with six or fewer beds. This is concerning,
 because these facilities have typically been more affordable and accessible for low-income
 persons. Notably, because ARFs tend to be smaller facilities, this has resulted in a larger loss in
 capacity for adults under age 60. Due to increased housing, staffing, and business costs and
 shifting family interest, this trend will be difficult to reverse. While efforts should be taken to
 support the viability of these existing small businesses, this small home-based model may prove
 to be unsustainable in the long-term.
- Cost is and will continue to be a significant barrier. Cost estimates suggest the monthly break-even rate per bed is, at minimum, over \$2,000 for small facilities. This is over two times more than the state-set rate for Supplemental Security Income (SSI) recipients residing in assisted living. Full rates for private pay clients in larger facilities are estimated to be closer to \$3,500 to \$5,000 but can increase greatly for specialized care needs. Given business costs, it is unlikely that new ALFs will cater to a lower-income population without outside funding or support. It is evident that SSI recipients will require a meaningful subsidy to secure ALF placement.
- The City is a key funder of ALF placement. Through DPH and DAAS programs, the City supports 586 placements at an overall cost of about \$11.2 million per year. Approximately 15% of ALF beds in San Francisco are supported with a City-funded subsidy. This is particularly pronounced among ARF beds: DPH's 199 ARF placements in San Francisco account for 42% of ARF beds. It is in the interests of both the City and ALF operators to work together towards sustainability to ensure this critical resource remains available and clients are able to flow through systems of care.
- There is unmet need for low-income ALF placement in San Francisco. At the time of this report, available waitlist data suggests at least 103 individuals have expressed a need for subsidized ALF placement through the DPH placement program, DAAS-funded Community Living Fund program, and the state's Assisted Living Waiver program.

SMALL FACILITIES ARE DISAPPEARING AT A FAST RATE AND ARE UNLIKELY TO RETURN

Assisted living supply has declined across both RCFEs and ARFs. In total, San Francisco has 43 fewer ALFs in operation today than in 2012. This has resulted in a decrease of 243 ALF beds (a nine percent decline). The scale of this loss varies by licensure:

- **RCFE**: Today, San Francisco has 21 fewer RCFE facilities than 2012 a 26% decline. However, because most of these closures were small facilities, the overall change in number of RCFE beds is small across this time period: a five percent decrease (112 beds).
- **ARF**: Both the supply of ARF facilities and beds has declined precipitously in recent years. Since 2012, there has been a 34% decline in the number of ARF facilities and 22% decline in the number of ARF beds in San Francisco. In total, San Francisco has 131 fewer ARF beds than in 2012.

Total			RCFE			ARF						
Measure	2012	2018	#	%	2012	2018	#	%	2012	2018	#	%
# of Licensed Facilities	144	101	-43	-30%	80	59	-21	-26%	64	42	-22	-34%
# of Beds	2,761	2,518	-243	-9%	2,152	2,040	-112	-5%	609	478	-131	-22%

San Francisco ALF Supply by Licensure: 2012 to 2018

In both licensure categories, the decline has been in smaller facilities – the ALFs that have traditionally been more accessible to lower-income residents (including those supported with City subsidies). The scale of this small-facility loss has been somewhat obscured by growth in larger facilities, particularly on the RCFE side. Since 2012, the City has seen a net loss of 34 homes in the smallest facility category – ALFs with six or fewer beds (often called "board and care homes"). In total, there are 203 fewer beds available in board and care home settings.





Source: CA Department of Social Services, August 2018 RCFE ARF

The loss of small ALF facilities puts the City's supply of assisted living for adults under age 60 particularly at risk. While RCFEs come in a variety of sizes, ARFs are much more likely to be small facilities. Half of the City's ARF beds are located in facilities with 15 or fewer residents. Conversely, large-scale RCFEs with 100 or more beds account for almost half of ALF beds for seniors age 60 and older. As shown below, about a third of ARF beds (and almost two-thirds of ARF facilities) fall into the smallest facility category, called "board and care homes," with six or fewer beds. If the rapid loss of small ALF facilities continues, the City's ARF supply will be decimated.

Facility Size	Тс	otal	RC	FE	ARF		
(Total Beds)	Facilities	Beds	Facilities	Beds	Facilities	Beds	
1 to 6 beds	47	276	20	118	27	158	
7 to 15 beds	26	313	19	233	7	80	
16 to 49 beds	15	464	8	279	7	185	
50 to 99 beds	7	478	6	423	1	55	
100+ beds	6	987	6	987	0	0	
Total	101	2,518	59	2,040	42	478	

Source: CA Department of Social Services, August 2018



This loss in board and care homes results from several factors, particularly increased costs and declining family interest. This is described in greater detail below, beginning with a cost analysis.

As private businesses, ALF costs and rates are typically considered confidential proprietary information, and this information is not made publicly available, making it difficult to identify the true cost of operating a board and care facility. Based on available research literature and reports on assisted living,

the ALF operator survey, and one-on-one consultation with current ALF operators, the ALF Workgroup has attempted to approximate costs and estimate a "break-even" monthly rate for a six-bed ALF.

More specifically, the Assisted Living Workgroup developed three cost estimates to represent a range of ALF ownership and cost scenarios. The first two scenarios below reflect the typical origin of a board and care home, in which a homeowner has opened their private residence up to boarders in order to provide a little extra income or help with mortgage costs. The third model attempts to simulate the cost for a new entity to operate.

- Scenario A: Family-owned and operated ALF with property owned outright (i.e., no mortgage). Owner serves as administrator and does not draw a salary. Facility is staffed by 2.0 FTE direct care workers; the administrator pitches in to help out as needed during the day and, since this is her home, lives onsite and addresses any needs that arise overnight. Other family members may also pitch in to help as needed without pay.
- Scenario B: Family-owned and operated ALF with property under mortgage. Owner serves as administrator and does not draw a salary. Facility is staffed by 2.0 FTE direct care workers; the administrator pitches in to help out as needed during the day and, since this is her home, lives onsite and addresses any needs that arise overnight. Other family members may also pitch in to help as needed without pay.
- Scenario C: Newer ALF with property under mortgage and providing a higher level of staffing: 1 paid administrator and 4.0 FTE direct care workers. This staffing level provides 1.0 FTE active at all times; that is, this model relies on paid staff available 24/7 and does not include free labor.

All Annual cost Estimate and Monthly Break Even hate for six bear facility						
ANNUAL EXPENSES	А	В	С			
Administrative Costs (e.g., licensing, supplies)	\$30,490	\$30,490	\$30,490			
Property Costs (e.g., property tax, mortgage)	\$22,346	\$105,182	\$111,614			
Labor Costs (e.g., wages, healthcare)	\$77,330	\$77,330	\$216,711			
Staff Development (e.g., training, recruitment)	\$3 <i>,</i> 685	\$3 <i>,</i> 685	\$3,770			
Resident Supports (e.g., food, transportation)	\$32,240	\$32,240	\$38,080			
TOTAL ANNUAL EXPENSES	\$166,091	\$248,927	\$400,665			
MONTHLY BREAK EVEN RATE	А	В	С			
100% Occupancy	\$2,307	\$3,457	\$5 <i>,</i> 565			
90% Occupancy	\$2,563	\$3,841	\$6,183			

ALF Annual Cost Estimate and Monthly Break-Even Rate for Six Bed Facility²

Source: Assisted Living Workgroup analysis, see Appendix B for detail

From a business perspective, this cost analysis underscores the difficulty that long-time board and care home operators face in maintaining their business, particularly those that have historically served a low-income population. SSI recipients residing in assisted living receive an enhanced benefit known as the Non-Medical Out of Home Care payment standard. This benefit totals \$1,173 and residents are

² See Appendix B for detail on costs included in each expense category and information source.

permitted to retain \$134, leaving \$1,058 available for ALF operators – less than half the break-even rate. From an ALF operator perspective, **it would not be feasible for a facility to accept the SSI rate for all residents or even a significant portion**. Moreover, for each resident that a facility accepts at a lower monthly rate, the cost difference must be made up in the rates charged to other residents.

Additionally, this analysis highlights that it is unlikely that new board and care homes will open in San Francisco. It is simply not a financially sustainable model unless the operator is the homeowner who lives onsite. As outlined in Scenario C, an investor entering the market anew would need to charge about \$6,000 per month to break even. At those rates, an individual could likely purchase a bed in a larger, more upscale facility. From an investment perspective, other private business ventures are more likely to be readily profitable.

Shifting family dynamics and broader economic trends exacerbate these cost issues, particularly

related to workforce. Historically, small ALFs have been family businesses with family members helping out and eventually taking over the business. However, through the ALF operator survey, board and care home owners shared that their children are less interested in maintaining the family business, and increased property values offer a lucrative opportunity to cash in on an unexpected retirement windfall. The City's increasingly high cost of living and low unemployment rate make it difficult for ALF operators to find people willing and able to work for minimum wage. But it is difficult for small ALF operators to pay above minimum wage given their slim profit margin and increasing operating costs. A key factor is the local minimum wage increase and its impact on operating costs in comparison to revenue opportunities: since 2012, minimum wage has increased by 46% while the SSI rate for assisted living residents has only increased by 8%.

COST IS – AND WILL REMAIN – A KEY BARRIER

As discussed in the prior section, cost estimates suggest that the monthly break-even bed rate is over \$2,000 per bed in a board and care home, more than twice what a low-income SSI recipient would be able to pay. This estimate was based on a minimal cost model in which the ALF administrator is the homeowner who does not take a salary. This cost estimate climbs quickly depending on mortgage status and staffing levels. Additionally, to make a profit, a facility must charge higher rates. While most respondents in the ALF operator survey reported charging under \$4,000 per month for a bed, they noted that their rates are largely defined by the state SSI rate and DPH subsidies. They shared that it is difficult to meet their business expenses, and this rate is not sustainable.

It is unlikely that new ALFs will cater to low-income consumers. As discussed in the prior finding, it is unlikely that many new small board and care facilities will open in future. Larger facilities tend to charge higher rates; they are profit-oriented businesses with all paid professional staff in newer facilities (often with significant costs associated with the building) and can attract a higher-paying clientele. The DAAS-funded Community Living Fund program provides a snapshot of market rate costs: on average, the full monthly rate for ALF placement is \$4,382.³

Monthly ALF Placement Rate Comparison

Rate	Monthly Rate
State-Set SSI Payment for ALF Residents	\$1,058
Board & Care Home Break-Even Estimate	\$2,307
Average ALF Placement Rate*	\$4,382

*Based on DAAS-funded Community Living Fund program (ALF placements in facilities of all sizes, from board and care homes to 100+ bed facilities)

It is evident from this information that **low-income individuals will need a meaningful additional subsidy to secure placement**. Given the disparity between the break-even rate and state funding level for SSI recipients, it is unreasonable to expect the market to provide ALF services for the low-income population – the cost and revenue does not pencil out to keep a facility in the black. In particular, this has implications for DPH. For clients with basic level of care needs, DPH provides a daily subsidy of \$22 per day (\$660 per month). It may be difficult for DPH to maintain access to this type of ALF placement in future. This is discussed further in the subsequent finding.

³ As described in the subsequent finding, the DAAS-funded CLF program provides monthly subsidies to a small number of intensive case management clients who require ALF placement to avoid institutionalization in a skilled nursing facility. This program data provides a small sample of RCFE rates charged for 22 CLF clients placed in San Francisco in June 2018. CLF subsidizes the difference between a client's ability to pay and negotiated facility rate (as detailed later in this report, the average CLF subsidy is \$2,943). Rates tend to be lower in smaller facilities. The maximum rate for a current CLF client is \$6,856; higher cost is based on increased level of care for clients with more complex needs. See Appendix C for more detail.

THE CITY IS A KEY FUNDER OF ASSISTED LIVING

Assisted living is a critical support for San Francisco adults of all incomes and ages. While assisted living is primarily a private pay service, many low-income individuals and clients enrolled in special programs are supported to secure ALF placement through City and other public programs. These include:

- 586 locally-funded and managed subsidies:
 - 561 subsidies managed by Department of Public Health (DPH) for persons with behavioral health needs;
 - 25 subsidies managed by Department of Aging and Adult Services (DAAS) for persons at high risk of skilled nursing placement;
- Subsidies provided through the Medi-Cal Assisted Living Waiver program operated by the California Department of Health Care Services;
- 237 consumers supported through other specialized programs, including:
 - o 120 placements managed by the Golden Gate Regional Center (GGRC); and
 - o 117 clients in the Program for the All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE) program.

In total, at least 823 San Francisco seniors and adults with disabilities are currently supported with the financial cost of ALF placement. The 604 clients placed locally in San Francisco account for 24% of ALF beds. This highlights the importance of this assisted living, its unaffordability for many people who need this level of support, and the role that public programs play in securing access to assisted living.

Through DPH and DAAS programs, the City directly supports 586 placements at an overall cost of approximately \$11.2 million per year.⁴ Of these placements, 367 are in San Francisco facilities, meaning that 15% of San Francisco's ALF beds are supported with a city-funded subsidy. This trend is particularly staggering among ARF beds, which serve adults under age 60: 42% of ARF beds are subsidized by DPH.

The nature of subsidy supply varies by program. DPH, DAAS, and the Assisted Living Waiver subsidy programs are capped by available funding. When a client transitions off of a subsidy, a new consumer can be placed. The City-funded DPH and DAAS subsidy programs are impacted by placement cost; if subsidy costs increase (e.g., due to rate increase or higher level of care needs), the number of subsidies DPH and DAAS programs can support decreases. The state's Assisted Living Waiver program has a set number of slots to fill.⁵ Conversely, the number of slots supported by GGRC and those whose care cost is paid by PACE is based on the needs of clients enrolled in their programs. Thus, the number of supported ALF placements may fluctuate over time if additional or fewer clients need ALF placement.

The **best opportunity to impact supply of subsides is through the local and Medi-Cal programs**. The specialized programs are harder to influence and, by their nature, already required to be responsive to client needs. More specifics on these various subsidy programs are provided on the following pages.

⁴ Funding estimate based on subsidy rate alone and does not include administrative or related costs.

⁵ In FY 2018-19, the Assisted Living Waiver increased from 3,744 to 5,744 slots.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

DPH provides assisted living subsidies for persons with serious mental illness and San Francisco Health Network members with multiple complex characteristics (e.g., mental health, substance use, medically compromised) with the goal of supporting stability in the most appropriate and least restrictive setting. In total, **561 DPH clients are subsidized for their ALF placements**. DPH spends approximately \$10.2 million on these placements each year; daily subsidy rates are based on the level of care needed.⁶ Most clients receive SSI. They are permitted to retain \$134 per month for personal needs and contribute the remaining \$1,058 of their income to their monthly placement cost. The DPH subsidy is layered on top of this payment. For clients with higher income, DPH funds the cost difference to its negotiated rate.

Level of Care	ARF	RCFE	Total	Daily DPH Subsidy Rate	Monthly DPH Subsidy Rate
Basic	191	68	259	\$22	\$660
Specialty	77	139	216	\$65*	\$1,950*
Enhanced	12	74	86	\$105	\$3,150
Total	280	281	561		

DPH Placements in ARF/RCFE – All Counties

Source: DPH Transitions, August 2018 *San Francisco rate (out of county rate varies)

Notably, about 39% of DPH-supported ALF placements are in facilities outside of San Francisco. Out of county placement may occur due to clinical determination (e.g., stability is better supported in a new environment away from factors that encourage destructive behaviors). However, this also indicates a level of demand for higher levels of care that is not met by the current system in San Francisco or is unattainable at current funding levels. Please see Appendix D for additional details, including a breakdown of in and out of county placements by level of care.

DEPARTMENT OF AGING AND ADULT SERVICES: COMMUNITY LIVING FUND

Through the Community Living Fund (CLF) program, DAAS supports **people at risk of institutionalization** (e.g., skilled nursing) to live in the community. Since its creation in 2007, this program has supported 75 individuals to afford ALF placement and avoid or delay skilled nursing placement. In a given month, CLF funds ALF placement for approximately 25-30 clients. Historically, these subsidies have primarily been used to support individuals to transition out of Laguna Honda Hospital and Rehabilitation Center; in recent years, CLF has expanded its work to support transitions out of private skilled nursing facilities. The program focuses on placements in San Francisco.⁷ Each month, CLF spends approximately \$75,000 on ALF placements; in total, the program spent \$926,000 on assisted living in FY 2017-18.

⁶ See Appendix D for level of care definitions.

⁷ Three current clients are placed out of county but were grandfathered in.

In June 2018, there were **25** clients receiving a monthly subsidy for ALF placement through CLF. Clients receiving a subsidy are permitted to retain \$134 per month (in keeping with the SSI personal needs allowance rate) and contribute the rest of their income to the monthly rate. CLF then patches the difference between the client's contribution and the ALF rate. The average monthly client contribution is \$1,312, slightly higher than the SSI rate. The table below provides detail about the average subsidy amount funded through CLF for 22 clients placed in San Francisco.

Subsidy Rate	Average	Minimum	Maximum
Daily	\$98	\$25	\$195
Monthly	\$2,943	\$737	\$5,854

Community Living Fund San Francisco ALF Placements

Source: Community Living Fund, June 2018

MEDI-CAL ASSISTED LIVING WAIVER PROGRAM

The Assisted Living Waiver (ALW) is a Medi-Cal Home and Community-Based Services waiver program that supports individuals who require skilled nursing level of care to delay placement into a skilled nursing facility and instead reside in a lower level of care, either an assisted living or public subsidized housing setting with appropriate supports. This allows Medi-Cal funding to be used to pay for ALF placement for a limited number of individuals. Daily subsidies range from \$65 to \$102 depending on level of care.

In FY 2018-19, the ALW program capacity will increase by 2,000 new slots for a statewide total of 5,744 slots. The slots are allocated on a first come, first served basis, with 60% of placements reserved for skilled nursing facility residents and 40% for individuals already residing in an ALF or living in another community placement. As of January 2019, there were about 4,000 people on the centralized ALW waitlist managed by the California Department of Health Care Services (DHCS). It currently takes an average of 12-15 months to reach the top of the list. While DHCS was unable to provide the exact number of San Franciscans currently supported with an ALW subsidy in time for this report's publication, they did share that 46 San Francisco residents are on the waitlist.

Individual eligibility is assessed by state-certified Care Coordination Agencies (CCA), which are responsible for developing and implementing each client's individualized service plan and supporting clients to make decisions regarding their choices of living arrangements. When an individual reaches the top of the waitlist, the CCA that initially assessed the client's eligibility is responsible to help them secure ALF placement.

Facilities must also undergo a certification process for beds to be designated as ALW eligible. There is no limit on the number of facilities that can apply to become an ALW facility. **Currently, there are five San Francisco ALFs that have ALW-certified beds**. Because all are small board and care homes with six or fewer beds, the current supply of ALW-eligible beds located in San Francisco is relatively limited. An individual may be placed in a facility outside of San Francisco if there are no available ALW-eligible beds within the City.

GOLDEN GATE REGIONAL CENTER

The Golden Gate Regional Center (GGRC) is a state-funded non-profit organization that serves **individuals with intellectual disabilities**. Per state regulations, GGRC must vendorize or rent out an entire ARF to place clients under age 60 in assisted living. For senior clients age 60 and older, GGRC can vendorize a single bed rather than an entire facility. Facilities must meet specific criteria and requirements to provide residential care to people with developmental disabilities. As the Regional Center for San Francisco, Marin, and San Mateo counties, GGRC places clients in all of these counties. GGRC reports that they no longer vendorize new facilities in San Francisco due to cost and availability issues. In total, GGRC has approximately 120 San Francisco clients placed in ALFs.

PROGRAM FOR THE ALL INCLUSIVE CARE FOR THE ELDERLY (PACE)

The Program for the All Inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE) is a healthcare program for Medicare and Medicaid clients. In San Francisco, On Lok Lifeways operates a PACE program, serving individuals aged 55 and older. As a capitated managed care benefit model, On Lok Lifeways provides a comprehensive medical and social service delivery system and is responsible for meeting all of its clients' care needs. PACE clients who require ALF placement typically pay a portion of the monthly rate for room and board; On Lok Lifeways may cover the care-associated costs based on the individual's care plan needs. Currently, there are about 117 PACE clients residing in RCFEs.

THERE IS UNMET NEED FOR AFFORDABLE ASSISTED LIVING

An individual's **need for assisted living level of care can develop under a variety of circumstances**. These circumstances may be distinct but also can overlap, including:

- Living in the community but experiencing increasing personal care needs that make independent living no longer a safe option;
- Currently institutionalized or at risk of institutionalization in a skilled nursing facility; and/or
- Experiencing behavioral health challenges and unable to meet basic needs, living in the community, on the street, or in a mental health facility.

The Assisted Living Workgroup has explored many potential data sources in its attempt to identify and quantify demand for ALF placement, but this effort is hindered by a lack of available data. When a service or support (like assisted living) is not an option, systems are typically not set up to document the need for that service. Consequently, few programs and organizations track information about individuals who would benefit from ALF placement but for whom it is not an option (i.e., due to cost).

However, even without clear cut data on consumer demand, the limited available data combined with key informant interviews provide a sense that there is significant unmet need for assisted living placement. This manifests in a number of trends, including: increasing rates of self-neglect among consumers attempting to live independently longer than is safely feasible; waitlists for ALF subsidies; out of county placements; and delays in client movement between levels of care.

City programs do capture some information on unmet need for *affordable* assisted living. In August 2018, DPH had 32 clients awaiting placement and 10 empty beds, the result of a mismatch between client needs and the available level of care in facilities with vacancies. As of June 2018, the DAAS-funded CLF program had 25 individuals waitlisted for ALF placement – they need this higher level of support but the program does not have financial resources to subsidize their placement at this time.

There is also **unmet need for the state's Assisted Living Waiver program**. As of October 2018, there are 46 San Francisco residents on the waitlist for this program. It is possible that these individuals will be served through this year's 2,000 slot expansion of the Assisted Living Waiver program authorized by Governor Brown, but it is unclear how these slots will be allocated across counties and how San Francisco may benefit. Moreover, once people see new enrollment through the expansion and even if the waitlist is cleared, it may be the case that new requests will come forward.

Hospitalized individuals who are unable to privately pay for assisted living or ineligible for a subsidy may end up stuck at the hospital without a clear discharge solution. As part of the Post-Acute Care Collaborative, a point-in-time 2017 survey of hospitals found that 50% of 117 hospitalized individuals awaiting discharge needed custodial care and 24% could be accommodated at a lower level in the community. Many of these patients had behavioral health characteristics, including substance use, severe mental illness, and/or dementia, that can make it difficult to find an affordable placement.

RECOMMENDED STRATEGIES

The Assisted Living Workgroup's Strategies Research Group identified and vetted 16 ways for the City to potentially support ALF capacity in San Francisco. These ideas ranged from business factors to workforce support to models of care and payment. These strategies were evaluated to identify which had the greatest likelihood of meaningfully supporting and/or expanding the City's supply of assisted living using the following criteria:

- Cost: What is the estimated cost or cost scale to implement the strategy?
- **Impact**: What level of impact is this strategy likely to have? For example, how many clients could be impacted? Will the strategy significantly improve the ability of ALF operators to stay in business?
- **Timeframe**: How long will it take to implement the strategy and see impact? Is the timeline: short (within six months), moderate (six to twelve months), or long-term (over a year)?
- **Feasibility**: Given competing priorities and needs in the City and State, how likely is the strategy to be implemented? Is there a clear path forward to implementation?

Based on these criteria, the ideas were prioritized and grouped into four main strategic areas with eight recommendations for specific ideas to support these goals.

Strategy	Recommendation		
Sustain existing small businesses	Support business acumen skills		
	Develop workforce pipeline		
Increase access to existing ALF beds	Increase the rate for City-funded subsidies		
	Increase the number of City-funded subsidies		
Develop new models	Pilot co-location of enhanced services and affordable housing		
	Make space available at low cost for ALF operators		
Enhance state Assisted Living Increase use of existing ALW slots			
Waiver (ALW) program	Advocate for ALW expansion (Assembly Bill 50)		

Assisted Living Workgroup: Recommended Strategies

The other eight potential strategies identified by the Assisted Living Workgroup's Strategies Research Group are worth review and continued conversation. Please see Appendix E. These are ideas that hold promise but may be a heavier lift, require additional discussion to ascertain next steps towards implementation, or have lower (but still potentially meaningful) impact. For example, one of these ideas is to develop local property tax breaks for ALFs that accept low-income residents. Further analysis is needed to identify the tax break scale needed to achieve a meaningful impact and to determine local interest in instituting such a policy.

SUSTAIN EXISTING SMALL BUSINESSES

Small facilities are a valuable resource, especially in providing more affordable placements. Particularly given that new board and care homes are unlikely to open in San Francisco, it would behoove the City to continue and expand its efforts to help sustain these businesses. The strategies within this recommendation are intended to empower small ALFs to remain viable for as long as possible by reducing costs and increasing revenue. These actions are all within the City's purview, can be implemented quickly, and have the potential to immediately provide positive impact while other larger-scale and long-term strategies are pursued.

RECOMMENDATION: SUPPORT BUSINESS ACUMEN SKILLS

Many small ALFs are long-held family businesses – a model based on private residents opening up their home to boarders. Outside of direct experience, many ALF operators do not have a background or formal training in business operation.⁸ Moreover, they have indicated a desire for this type of support; 75% of ALF survey respondents indicated that business consultation support would be a useful resource.

The ALF Workgroup recommends that the City provide business acumen support to empower small ALFs to enhance their business skills and structure their practices to promote the overall viability of these facilities. There is precedent for this type of service. The Office of Economic and Workforce Development's (OEWD) Small Business Development Center (SBDC) provides training and consulting support to business owners in San Francisco. This resource could potentially be leveraged to develop expertise specifically focused on the field of assisted living, which may be outside the industries with which the SBDC commonly works.

Cost	Low	Cost will vary based on scale and format of support (e.g., group training could be lower cost than one-on-one coaching), as well as ability to leverage existing resources, but should be relatively low cost in context of other recommended strategies.
Impact	Moderate	Business strategic support has potential to reduce costs and improve efficiency for small operators with lean budgets. Per ALF survey, ALF operators see value in this type of support and can be expected to make use of it.
Timeframe	Short-term	Support strategies could likely be rolled out within the next fiscal year, particularly if existing resources (e.g., OEWD SBDC) are leveraged.
Feasibility	Moderate	OEWD is available to guide implementation

Prioritization Criteria – Business Acumen Skills

⁸ As an example, 81% of ALF operator survey respondents indicated a need for help publicizing their business, and about half identified long bed vacancies as a main concern impacting business sustainability. However, few have an online presence or outreach/publicity strategy. When unable to find a new client, ALFs may end up using a placement registry that connects clients to open ALF beds but charges 100%-150% of the first month's rate for each placement. Using a placement registry three times per year can cost over \$15,000, increasing costs by up to 10% for a business with a very tight margin.

RECOMMENDATION: DEVELOP WORKFORCE PIPELINE

At the same time that long-time ALF operators are aging and becoming more reliant on outside help to provide care to residents, procuring outside labor is becoming increasingly challenging due to minimum wage increases, low unemployment levels, and stricter staffing requirements (particularly for ARF). Having to train new caregiver staff, particularly for facilities experiencing frequent turnover, is an additional burden.

The Assisted Living Workgroup recommends that the City consider opportunities to leverage its workforce development programs to support the ALF industry. Existing job training and wage stipend programs provide a potential opportunity to both address the training needs and also help offset one of the main cost drivers that small ALFs cite as a key threat to their viability. There may be opportunities to build this type of program into a larger caregiver career ladder, such as a partnership with the In-Home Supportive Services program and/or San Francisco City College.

Cost	Moderate to High	Cost will vary based on scale. HSA's Workforce Development Division typically provides a wage stipend for up to six months through the JobsNOW! program for clients participating in public benefit programs (e.g., CalWORKs Welfare-to-Work). Existing program infrastructure can be utilized with minimal additional administrative cost.
Impact	Moderate to High	Labor costs have been cited as a key challenge in business viability. While the wage stipend is time-limited, the cost savings could be quite meaningful for small facilities with a lean operating budget and help buy time while longer-term strategies are implemented. Moreover, this model reduces the burden on ALF operators to train new workers.
Timeframe	Medium- Term	While existing job placement programs can be utilized, it will require time to integrate new training curriculum into the program model and then to train the first cohort(s) of participants for placement.
Feasibility	High	This can likely be built off or implemented within existing workforce development programs.

Prioritization Criteria – Develop Workforce Pipeline

INCREASE ACCESS TO EXISTING ALF BEDS

As primarily a private pay service, assisted living is financially out of reach from many people who need this level of care. This can result in crisis situations for those unable to meet their needs in the community; it also contributes to capacity issues in higher levels of care, such as hospital and psychiatric beds, when persons ready to transition out are unable to afford assisted living or secure a subsidy. To ensure continued access to assisted living and to meet current demand, the Assisted Living Workgroup recommends a rate increase and also an increase in the number of City-funded subsidies.

RECOMMENDATION: INCREASE RATE FOR CITY-FUNDED SUBSIDIES

The cost estimates included in this report suggest that a minimum monthly break-even bed rate for a small board and care home is over \$2,000 per month. Larger facilities tend to charge closer to \$4,400. However, the state-set rate for SSI recipients living in assisted living provides only \$1,058 per month for the ALF operators, leaving an operating cost gap of over \$1,200 per month. Low-income SSI recipients will need a meaningful subsidy on top of the SSI benefit to procure ALF placement. However, while small ALF operators identified the steadiness or reliability of City-funded subsidies as valuable, they described the rate as unsustainable, particularly for the "basic" level of care. Moreover, larger facilities (that charge higher rates) are unlikely to accept the lowest subsidy rates, particularly as their costs increase.

In particular, the Assisted Living Workgroup recommends that the City consider an additional rate increase for the "basic" level of care supported by DPH. Currently, there are 259 individuals in a basic level of care (all are placed in San Francisco). In July 2018, the subsidy rate was increased from \$19.75 to \$22 per day or \$660 per month as part of a \$1 million two-year budget enhancement from Mayor Breed. Even if this enhanced rate is continued, it will be difficult to continue securing placements at this rate.

The Assisted Living Workgroup does not make a specific recommendation regarding rate levels – leaving this to city policymakers and relevant departments to discuss in further detail – but notes that any rate increase would need to be funded with a new allocation to avoid an overall reduction in the number of subsidies available.

Cost	Moderate to High	Cost will depend on the number of subsidies impacted and scale of the rate increase. For example, a \$5 rate increase for the 259 current residents	
		with a "basic" level of care would cost approximately \$437,000 per year.	
Impact	Moderate to	Current subsidy rates are the most often cited business challenge for ALFs.	
	High	An increase would immediately impact all facilities that currently take DPH	
	-	"basic" level of care placements.	
Timeframe	Short-Term	This would support an existing program that could quickly implement a	
		rate increase.	
Feasibility	High	The primary challenge is funding availability (the subsidy program, partner	
	-	facilities, and process for procuring beds are in place).	

Prioritization Criteria – Increase Rate for City-Funded Subsidies

RECOMMENDATION: INCREASE NUMBER OF CITY-FUNDED SUBSIDIES

Through DPH Transitions placement team and DAAS Community Living Fund, the City supports almost 600 ALF placements for low-income San Franciscans. While it is difficult to develop a comprehensive estimate of unmet need for assisted living due to lack of data, the information that is available suggests at least 103 individuals have expressed a need for affordable ALF placement. This includes 32 DPH clients in need of ALF placement but for whom there is not an appropriate bed that meets their level of care needs, as well as 25 individuals that have been assessed as in need of assisted living by the DAAS-funded CLF program.⁹

The Assisted Living Workgroup recommends that the City provide additional funding to increase subsidies for assisted living placement for low-income individuals. To determine an appropriate number and avenue for distribution will require additional discussion by city policymakers and relevant departments and programs.

Cost	Moderate to High	Cost depends on number and rate of additional subsidies. For example, the Community Living Fund client population tends to have more complex needs; based on the average subsidy rate, it would cost about \$883,000 annually to support the 25 individuals waitlisted for ALF placement financial support.
Impact	High	This would immediately support consumer access to assisted living.
Timeframe	Short-Term	Existing programs are ready to implement.
Feasibility	High	The primary challenge is funding availability. The subsidy program, partner facilities, and process for procuring beds are in place.

Prioritization Criteria – Increase the Number of City-Funded Subsidies

⁹ An additional 46 individuals are on the state's Assisted Living Waiver waitlist.

DEVELOP NEW MODELS FOR MEETING NEEDS

The loss in smaller ALF facilities is unlikely to be reversed, and the high cost of entry makes it likely that new ALF facilities will be targeted to a higher-income clientele. Even with a subsidy, high-end facilities may be hesitant to bring in residents with more complex behavioral needs or a history of homelessness. Given this, the City should consider alternative strategies to increase affordable assisted living supply beyond funding subsidies in existing facilities, particularly strategies that offer more control over the resident population (e.g., low-income or LGBTQ).

RECOMMENDATION: CO-LOCATE ENHANCED SERVICES WITH AFFORDABLE HOUSING

Assisted living provides a level of support beyond what is typically available in the community, and most residents truly need the supervision and care provided around-the-clock. However, for individuals on the margin of needing assisted living, it may be the case that a more robust and coordinated community-based model of care can adequately meet needs and preempt or delay ALF placement. This diversion would benefit both the consumer (by providing a less restrictive option) and also the broader system of care (by preserving assisted living for those most in need and ultimately supporting client movement between levels of care).

The Assisted Living Workgroup recommends that the City explore and expand preventative models that provide enhanced, targeted, and coordinated long-term care services within the community to support independent living. Many existing services offer key components of the support provided in assisted living. However, to remain stable in the community, individuals on the verge of needing assisted living would benefit from enhanced or hybridized services and more defined coordination beyond what is currently available. These efforts may be: structured similarly to permanent supportive housing (e.g., with enhanced on-site care components); provided as targeted supportive services within a geographical area (e.g., same SRO or affordable housing building); or as a partnership with a specific affordable housing partner. The Assisted Living Workgroup notes that such a program would need to be structured carefully to avoid establishing an unlicensed ALF.

Cost	Moderate	Depending on how the model is structured, existing programs may be leveraged to provide key resources (e.g., meal programs, home care through In-Home Supportive Services). However, there will also likely be new costs incurred, such as specialized case management, housing subsidies, and pilot program administration and evaluation.
Impact	Low (initially)	As a pilot program to start, the initial impact will be relatively low. If the pilot is successful, the program could be scaled up or replicated and achieve a higher impact.
Timeframe	Long-Term	It will take time to develop the pilot model, identify an appropriate residential location, and implement.
Feasibility	Moderate	Need to assemble a team to identify tangible next steps, barriers, opportunities to leverage existing programs, and potential funding sources.

Prioritization Criteria – Co-Locate Enhanced Services with Affordable Housing

RECOMMENDATION: MAKE SPACE AVAILABLE FOR ALF OPERATION AT LOW COST

As with all businesses, a key barrier to entry in San Francisco is real estate; the cost to purchase or rent space can be prohibitively expensive and typically must be recouped through high costs passed on to the consumer. In the ALF world, new facilities are unlikely to be able to accept low-income residents who cannot afford to privately pay high rates for services – if they can afford to open at all.

The Assisted Living Workgroup recommends that the City consider supporting future ALFs (or existing facilities struggling to meet monthly real estate costs) by making space available at low cost to ALF operators. This could be implemented in many ways, such as making use of existing City-owned buildings, purchase of new sites, or including space for assisted living in plans for new developments. This could be modeled after the Mayor's Office of Housing and Community Development's Small Sites Program, making use of "in rem" properties available through property tax seizure, or early access to probate buildings. The City could also consider opportunities to partner with a foundation to develop a public-private partnership that supports the availability of low-cost space.

Cost	Moderate to High	Overall cost will be dependent on costs to purchase, lease, and/or rehabilitate properties (all likely at market rates).
Impact	Moderate	Impact will depend on facility size (e.g., greater size will have greater impact).
Timeframe	Long-Term	Based on time to identify buildings, identify and interested ALF operator, carry out contracting process, and outfit space appropriately.
Feasibility	Moderate	It is unclear whether there are currently City-owned properties available and appropriate for this type of use or if there are foundation partners interested in this type of work. Each site would require significant work to identify and, where necessary, procure. The City has many competing priorities and populations for new housing projects and foundation partnerships. However, this may fit well into current or future strategic plans at City agencies. For example, many DPH-ALF clients are formerly homeless, so this may fit into a larger HSH strategic plan.

Prioritization Criteria – Make Space Available for ALF Operation at Low Cost

ENHANCE STATE WAIVER PROGRAM

The Assisted Living Waiver (ALW) program provides a limited number of subsidies to delay skilled nursing placement for Medi-Cal clients. While this year's addition of 2,000 new slots will help address the current 4,000 person waitlist, there are additional opportunities to maximize utilization of this program locally by increasing the number of San Francisco residents applying for slots coupled with supporting the availability of ALW-eligible beds within the City. The impact of such efforts will increase significantly should the state further expand the ALW program by passing AB 50.

RECOMMENDATION: INCREASE USE OF EXISTING ASSISTED LIVING WAIVER SLOTS

Local ALW participation is driven both by client applications and facility certification of beds as ALWeligible. As San Francisco residents rise to the top of the statewide ALW waitlist, they will be able to secure an ALW-subsidized placement (that is, the more San Franciscans who apply, the more that will be able to make use of this program). However, their ability to remain in San Francisco is impacted by the availability of ALW-eligible beds in San Francisco facilities. Currently, there are five San Francisco ALFs that have completed the state process to be certified as ALW eligible.

Another key component in the ALW process is the Care Coordinator Agency (CCA) that assesses for eligibility and works with a client to develop and implement an individualized service plan. Currently, there are three CCAs that support San Francisco ALW clients; however, none of these are actually based in San Francisco.

The Assisted Living Workgroup recommends the City develop a targeted strategy for maximizing the utilization of the ALW within San Francisco, both with regard to individual applications and facility certification as ALW eligible. While the immediate impact may be limited due to the current ALW waitlist, this lays a critical foundation for future access; moreover, the impact in San Francisco would be significant should AB 50 pass (see next recommendation).

Cost	Low	The cost of ALW subsidy is paid by Medi-Cal. The City may need to provide technical support for ALFs to complete the state certification process.	
Impact	Moderate	At minimum, increasing ALF participation within the program could increase the number of available beds. Should AB 50 pass and further increase the number of ALW slots, the impact would increase.	
Timeframe	Moderate- Long Term	Further analysis is required to identify next steps, but it will take time for new applicants to reach the top of the waitlist and for ALF facilities to complete the certification process.	
Feasibility	Moderate	Need to clarify a few key considerations, including what barriers prevent ALFs from participating within the ALW program and how best to support individual clients to apply for a slot.	

Prioritization Criteria – Increase use of Existing Assisted Living Waiver Slots

RECOMMENDATION: SUPPORT EXPANSION OF THE ASSISTED LIVING WAIVER PROGRAM

The Assisted Living Waiver program reached its capacity of 3,700 participants in March 2017. In FY 2018-19, the program will be expanded by an additional 2,000 slots, authorized by Governor Brown. However, this growth is anticipated primarily to address the existing waitlist, which includes 46 San Francisco residents. Last year, Assemblymember Ash Kalra (AD-27, San Jose) introduced legislation to further expand the Assisted Living Waiver program by an additional 12,800 over five years, which would bring the total number of slots of 18,500. Though the state legislature passed the bill, it was vetoed by Governor Brown on the basis of allowing time for the 2,000 slot expansion to be implemented and assessed. Assemblymember Kalra has reintroduced his legislation this year as Assembly Bill 50.

The Assisted Living Workgroup recommends that the City advocate at the state level for the passage of AB 50. Further, the City should explore options to advocate for a significant number of slots to be assigned to San Francisco and for reimbursement rates to be regionally-based to account for the higher costs in urban counties.

Cost	Low	Cost depends on scale of advocacy – existing processes and resources can likely be leveraged. If passed, Assisted Living Waiver slots will be funded by Medi-Cal funding and would not require City contribution.
Impact	Moderate	Dependent on the number of Assisted Living Waiver slots allocated to San Francisco but anticipated to increase capacity at some level.
Timeframe	Medium to Long Term	Dependent on 2019 state legislative process and care coordinator agency implementation process.
Feasibility	High	The City has existing advocacy processes and infrastructure that can be utilized for this recommendation.

CONCLUSION

Assisted living facilities (ALFs) are a key component of the City's support network to ensure people are able to age in place and remain in the most independent and community-like setting. In particular, the availability of affordable assisted living is critical for many seniors and people with disabilities who are no longer able to live independently and safely in San Francisco. From a systems perspective, an adequate ALF supply supports the movement of consumers through medical and mental health systems, flowing between levels of support as appropriate for their individual needs.

In recent years, San Francisco has experienced a precipitous decline in smaller facilities, which historically have been a key resource for low-income individuals in need of ALF placement. Operating costs have increased, making the SSI rate for the lowest-income individuals not a viable payment for ALF operators to sustain their business. Shifting family interests and increased property values have interrupted the tradition of family-managed business passing down to younger generations.

The City can and should support the viability of these small facilities for as long as possible through the recommendations outlined in this report. At the same time, to support the long-term availability of affordable assisted living, the City must pursue additional solutions that include increasing access to existing ALF beds through City-funded subsidy programs, developing new models to support people with increased personal care needs, and enhancing the state's Assisted Living Waiver program.

APPENDIX A. ALF OPERATOR SURVEY.

As both the Demand and Supply Research groups began their work, it became evident there was important information that work group members did not have access to, such as the monthly operating budget of ALFs, how operators determine rate models and whether those rates covered their monthly expenses, and what, if any, potential strategies or resources would ALFs be most interested in.

As a result, the workgroup decided to conduct a phone survey of board and care homes (ALFs with six or fewer beds) in San Francisco, as well as some larger ALFs known to accept City-subsidized placements, to better understand several key questions the workgroup had not been able to answer.

METHODOLOGY

A phone survey was conducted with a total of 16 facilities¹⁰ from October through November 2018. The survey consisted primarily of categorical, ordinal, and interval response questions with opportunities for respondents to provide open-ended comments. Respondents included 10 RCFEs (two facilities with 20 or more beds and eight facilities with six or fewer beds) and six ARFs (one facility with 20 or more beds and five facilities with six or fewer beds).

The focus was primarily on the small facilities (6 beds or less) as those facilities tend to serve more lowincome residents than larger facilities, particularly those reliant on SSI. The group did decide to also include a small number of larger facilities, primarily to serve as a point of comparison.

SURVEY KEY FINDINGS

Key findings from the survey are highlighted below:

- The majority of small facilities interviewed rely on City funded subsidies, primarily DPH but also CLF, GGRC, and On Lok (PACE Program);
- Finances were the primary concern with regards to financial sustainability, including current rates, staffing costs, and additional business costs such as mortgage, insurance, and required trainings; and
- Most facilities have been open for many years, have two or fewer staff (often bolstered by informal family support), and are operating within residential neighborhoods.

¹⁰ The Assisted Living Workgroup intended to survey a total of 30 facilities (15 RCFEs and 15 ARFs), with a primary focus on small board and care homes. However, the analysts conducting the survey encountered a number of challenges, including that some facilities had already closed or were in the process of closing and administrators who were unresponsive to outreach efforts or unwilling to talk. Still, the information gathered from the 16 facilities surveyed provides valuable insight into the experience of ALF operators in San Francisco.

- The survey confirmed anecdotal information that a majority of board and care homes are longterm family businesses in which operators develop family-like relationships with residents and typically charge much less than larger or newer facilities. Therefore, they generally serve a lower-income population (often times relying only on SSI residents).
- Conversation with ALF operators revealed a number of nuanced challenges or obstacles that are not captured by categorical survey questions. For example, one African-American operator noted the racial discrimination she faced from potential residents and/or their family. Many operators noted that their business was inherited from family but 50% of survey respondents said that there were no plans for future family to continue the business.
- While there are many challenges cited within this specific industry, the vast majority of operators expressed the desire to remain open and even expand if financially feasible.

SURVEY QUESTIONS AND RESPONSES

1. Of your current clients, please estimate what percentages come directly from the following three places: hospital, home or community placement, or formerly homeless.

Placement prior to ALF	Respondents
Home or community	81%
Hospital (short or long	94%
term placements)	
Formerly homeless	94%

Responses reflect individual facilities responses to former placement, not total number of clients, and responses also differed among ARFs and RCFEs. For example, five out of six ARF operators said that the majority or all of their clients were from hospitals and/or formerly homeless. However, half of the RCFEs received residents primarily (or entirely) from either a community or hospital placement, while the other half received residents from a mix of the three placement locations.

2. Who is your preferred referral source and why?

Referring Agency	Respondents
City/County of San	50%
Francisco	
No Particular Agency	25%
Hospitals	13%
GGRC	6%
On Lok	6%

Of the four facilities that listed no particular agency as their preferred referral source, only one facility did not receive referrals from any agency. The key takeaway is that the vast majority of facilities interviewed (94%) works with at least one referring agency (of those listed above) to obtain new residents.

3. Have you declined admission to your facility?

A majority (64%) have denied admission of a resident, with the level of care needed by the resident as the most common reason (eight out of 10 operators). The second most common causes were problematic residents or no current openings (two out of 10 operators).

4. Including yourself, how many full-time staff do you employ? And do you have any part-time staff? If so, how many?

Staffing differed quite a bit among facilities. Among the small bed ALFs, 44% reported two staff. In addition to full time staff, 25% also reported relying on part-time staff, family members, or volunteers to supplement their staffing. For example, one RCFE with two full-time staff members also depended on her two adult children to help out but did not include them within the staffing count.

5. How many of your beds are currently vacant? Is this a typical vacancy rate? On average, how long will a bed remain vacant?

Current Vacancy Rate (out of 6 beds)	Respondents
0	54%
1	38%
2	8%

About half of facilities reported at least one vacancy at the time of the survey. However, most facilities (62%) reported that a more typical vacancy rate of zero. About 23% reported a typical vacancy rate of one bed, and 15% (two respondents) reported a typical vacancy rate of two beds.

Most commonly, respondents indicated a vacant bed would be filled within a month (43% of board and care home participants). A small number (2) have had beds remain vacant for up to six months. A handful was unable to identify a common trend – vacancy length varies or they do not track this information.

6. Can you describe the challenges experienced, if any, with filling a vacant bed?

Small bed facilities were pretty evenly split between those that experience challenges filling an empty bed (54%) and those that do not (46%). Of the facilities that experience challenges, their reasons all differed and added insight into the unique experiences faced by ALFs. These included:

- Needing to fill a bed by gender;
- Placement varying by season, such as having a lower vacancy rate in the summer and a greater demand for beds during the winter holiday season;
- Relying on referral agencies for placements;
- Not being able to afford to accept SSI clients;
- Resident or family bias about placing in the Bayview District or with an African American operator; or
- Clients not abiding by facility rules or having greater ADL needs than facility could accommodate.

7. Our current research shows six main concerns that impact business sustainability. Operators were asked to rate on a scale of one to five (with one being of little-to-no concern and five being a major concern):



Above are a breakdown of all facility responses and their ranking. The following topics were listed as a primary concern with the highest ranking:

- Hiring and retaining staff (63% ranked as high concern);
- Insurance costs (56% ranked as high concern); and
- Required staff trainings (50% ranked as high concern).

Conversely, below are the issues of lowest concern to ALFs (ranked as a one), which include:

- Personal health and/or family reasons (50% ranked as a low concern); and
- Long bed vacancies (44%).

Notably, topics ranked as low concerns by some facilities were listed as high concerns by other facilities. By analyzing the individual responses, it became clear that all facilities struggle with all of these issues to some degree. This variability highlights that all of these factors have the potential to impact the City's supply of small ALFs and support our original assumption, that these are the primary concerns faced by operators.

8. Are there any additional barriers or challenges that make it difficult for you to sustain your business?

Survey respondents did not identify any additional concerns beyond what was covered in prior question.

9. On a scale of one to five, how financially stable is your business for the next five years? (one being unstable/unsustainable and five being very stable)

Sustainability Ranking (1 being unstable to 5 being very sustainable)	Respondents
1 (Unstable)	6%
2	31%
3	25%
4	19%
5 (Very Stable)	19%

10. Based on available data, our staff have tried to capture the annual business costs of running a six bed in San Francisco and estimated it to be about \$425,000 a year (OR, costs of running a 20 bed in SF and estimated it to be about \$689,000 a year). Does that amount seem to you to be: Really high, a little high, about right, a little low or really low?

Answers reflect only the 13 small bed facilities:

- Four facilities felt the amount was "about right"
- Three facilities felt the amount was "a little high" or "really high"
- Three facilities felt the amount was "a little low"
- Three facilities skipped, weren't sure, or had never considered tracking an annual budget

Notably, this was a harder question for which to capture adequate data; generally, respondents were not used to considering their average annual business costs or did not answer.

- **11.** We understand that in the (RCFE/B&C/ARF) world, there are a variety of monthly rate models that facilities charge residents. For example:
 - A flat rate or comprehensive fee;
 - Base rate with additional costs for add-on services; or
 - Tiered fee system based on the level of care a patient requires

From the three models listed what rate structure do you use and/or prefer?

Monthly Rate Model	Respondents
Flat rate system	53%
Tiered fee system	33%
Unclear/didn't answer	20%

12. What are your minimum and maximum rates for a single and shared room?

Monthly Rate Model	Shared Room	Private Room
Less than \$4,000 per month	77%	30%
Between \$4,000-6,000	15%	8%
Between \$6,000-8,000	0%	8%
Declined to State	8%	0%
N/A	0%	54%

The table below highlights responses from board and care operators only:

This confirms the Assisted Living Workgroup sense that the small ALFs generally charge considerably less than larger facilities.

13. Do these rates cover your business expenses? How frequently do you increase your rates?

Response	Respondents
Rate does cover business expenses	56%
Rate does not cover business expenses	44%

The table below provides the frequency by which ALF operators increase their monthly rates.

6-12 Months	1-2 Years	2-5 Years	5+ Years	Did not respond
6%	31%	6%	13%	44%

14. We are also assessing how current subsidy levels relate to business costs. Therefore I'd like to know if any of your residents receive a subsidy towards their monthly rates:

Agency providing subsidy or patch	Respondents
Department of Public Health	75%
Golden Gate Regional Center	25%
On Lok (PACE Program)	13%
Community Living Fund	13%
Health Plan or Hospital	13%
No Subsidies/patches from any agency	25%

- 15. If the answer to Question 14 was yes: By your estimate, what percentages of your total residents have a subsidy or monthly patch? If they answered no: is there a specific reason for that? Below is a summary of the responses specifically of the small bed facilities:
 - 30% of facilities noted that a majority of their residents (80% or more) and 15% noted that a minority of their residents (20% or less) receive a subsidy from DPH;
 - Only one facility mentioned a mix of subsidies for their residents; and
 - 40% or five facilities did not respond.

Types of Potential Resources	Respondents
Low interest business loans	88%
Help with challenging clients	88%
Publicizing your business	81%
Providing required education and training to administrators and staff	81%
Support related to planning, building, and permitting processes	75%
Business consultation	75%
Workforce programs designed to onboard new staff	75%
Operating your business in a low-rent subsidized facility	44%

16. Which of the following resources do you think would be useful to support your business?

Note: There was no limit on the number of resources operators could choose, so many chose more than one.

- **17.** Have you considered, or are you interested in, expanding your business? Half of respondents (50%) answered yes and the other half (50%) answered no.
- 18. With regards to your facility, do you own your building, have a mortgage, or rent your building?

Building Ownership	Respondents
Own building (no mortgage)	21%
Own building (with mortgage)	64%
Rent building	14%

19. Do you have any feedback, recommendations, or suggestions about how to best support ALFs in San Francisco? Is there anything else that is important for us to know?

Below are a few additional or unique comments mentioned by facilities:

- Children are resistant to taking over the family business;
- Getting permits takes too long and causes delays in the building processes;
- Would like more places to take residents during the day;
- Need to know how to help clients quickly in an emergency;
- Needing additional support for clients with dementia; and
- SSI payments are not feasible for San Francisco

APPENDIX B. COST ESTIMATES.

This appendix details the methodology underlying the board and care home cost estimates described in this report. As private businesses, ALF costs and rates are typically considered confidential proprietary information, and this information is not made publicly available, making it difficult to identify the true cost of operating a board and care facility. To estimate the cost of operating a small six-bed ALF, the Assisted Living Workgroup primarily drew on a March 2018 Adult Residential Facilities report by the California Behavioral Health Planning Council, the ALF Operator Survey, and one-on-one consultation with board and care home operators.

ALF Cost Estimate Scenarios

Scenario	Description	Mortgage	Property Taxes	Administrator Salary	Direct Care Worker Wages
A	Family-owned and operated ALF with property owned outright (i.e., no mortgage). Owner serves as administrator and does not draw a salary. Facility is staffed by 2.0 FTE direct care workers; the administrator pitches in to help out as needed during the day and, since this is her home, lives onsite and addresses any needs that arise overnight.	\$0	\$9,420	\$0	\$62,400 (2 FTE)
В	Family-owned and operated ALF with property under mortgage. Owner serves as administrator and does not draw a salary. Facility is staffed by 2.0 FTE direct care workers; the administrator pitches in to help out as needed during the day and, since this is her home, lives onsite and addresses any needs that arise overnight.	\$82,836	\$9,420	\$0	\$62,400 (2 FTE)
С	Newer ALF with property under mortgage and providing a higher level of staffing: 1 paid administrator and 4.0 FTE direct care workers. This staffing level would support one paid direct care worker available at all times (that is, 24/7 paid staffing).	\$82,836	\$15,852	\$52,000	\$124,800 (4 FTE)

Assisted Living Six-Bed "Board and Care Home" Cost Estimates by Expense Category and Scenario

EXPENSE	Cost	Notes	Source	А	В	С
Administrative Costs		•		\$30,490	\$30,490	\$30,490
Contract Services	\$13,200	Includes legal and accounting	•		\$13,200	\$13,200
Insurance (liability/property)	\$7,200	Property, professional, liability, general liability			\$7,200	\$7,200
Other Supplies	\$4,380		CA Behavioral Health Planning Council, 2018 ARF report	\$4,380	\$4,380	\$4,380
Office Expenses	\$3,190		CA Behavioral Health Planning Council, 2018 ARF report	\$3,190	\$3,190	\$3,190
Payroll & Bank Fees	\$1,800	Payroll processing and bank fees	yroll processing and bank Consultation with ALF		\$1,800	\$1,800
Facility Licensing Fee	\$495	California Department of Social Services, Community Care Licensing (CDSS-CCL)		\$495	\$495	\$495
Administrator's Continuing Education Units	\$175	Calculating as 50% of cost Assisted Living CEU programs advertised online		\$175	\$175	\$175
Administrator Certification Fee	\$50	Calculating as 50% of cost (license is valid for 2 years)	CDSS-CCL	\$50	\$50	\$50
Property Costs	•	•	•	\$22,346	\$105,182	\$111,614
Mortgage Payment varies Scenario B based on refinanced mortgage; Scenario C based on cost to purchase new property at market rate Property listings on Zil		Property listings on Zillow	\$0	\$82,836	\$82,836	
Property Tax	varies		Property listings on Zillow	\$9 <i>,</i> 420	\$9 <i>,</i> 420	\$15,852
Maintenance and Repairs	\$7,670		CA Behavioral Health Planning Council, 2018 ARF report	\$7,670	\$7,670	\$7,670
Utilities	\$5,256			\$5,256	\$5,256	\$5,256

EXPENSE	Cost	Notes	Source	А	В	С
Labor Costs		•		\$77,330	\$77,330	\$216,711
Wages: Direct Care Staff	varies	Based on \$15/hr wage	Consultation with ALF operators	\$62,400	\$62,400	\$124,800
Wages: Facility Administrator	varies	Based on \$25/hr wage	Consultation with ALF operators	\$0	\$0	\$52,000
Worker's Comp	varies	Approximately 12% of wages	CA Department of Insurance, Workers Comp Base Rate	\$7,488	\$7,488	\$21,216
FICA/Medicare	varies	Based on 6.2% Social Security + 1.45% Medicare		\$4,774	\$4,774	\$13,525
Health/Dental/Life Vision Insurance	varies	Assuming \$600 month/employee. Rate is for minimal insurance.	CA Behavioral Health Planning Council, 2018 ARF report	\$1,800	\$1,800	\$3,000
Unemployment Insurance	varies	Max tax of \$344 per employee	CA Employment Development Department	\$868	\$868	\$2,170
Staff Development	•	•		\$3,685	\$3,685	\$3,770
Staff Development/Training	\$2,400		Consultation with ALF operators	\$2,400	\$2,400	\$2,400
Staff Recruitment/Advertising	\$1,200		Consultation with ALF operators	\$1,200	\$1,200	\$1,200
Staff Background Check	varies	\$85 per person; assumes half of staff turnover annually	Consultation with ALF operators	\$85	\$85	\$170
Resident Supports	•	•		\$32,240	\$32,240	\$38,080
Food		\$8/day x (clients + staff)		\$26,280	\$26,280	\$32,120
Transportation	\$3,360		CA Behavioral Health Planning Council, 2018 ARF report	\$3,360	\$3,360	\$3,360
Telephone/Internet/Cable	\$2,400	\$200 per month	Consultation with ALF operators	\$2,400	\$2,400	\$2,400
Subscriptions	\$200	Magazines, newspapers	Consultation with ALF operators	\$200	\$200	\$200
			TOTAL ANNUAL EXPENSES	\$166,091	\$248,927	\$400,655
		Bre	eak-Even Rate at 100% Occupancy	\$2,307	\$3,457	\$5,565
		Bi	reak-Even Rate at 90% Occupancy	\$2,563	\$3,841	\$6,183

APPENDIX C. DAAS-SUBSIDIZED ALF PLACEMENTS.

The DAAS-funded Community Living Fund (CLF) program provides monthly subsidies to a small number of intensive case management clients who require ALF placement to avoid institutionalization in a skilled nursing facility. This program data provides a small sample of RCFE rates charged for 22 CLF clients placed in San Francisco.

Clients receiving a subsidy are permitted to retain \$134 of their monthly income – in keeping with the Supplemental Security Income (SSI) personal needs allowance rate – and contribute the rest of their income to the monthly rate; CLF then patches the difference between the client's contribution and the ALF rate.

The table below provides detail about the average subsidy amount funded through CLF for 22 clients placed in San Francisco. The average client contribution is \$1,312.

	0		
Subsidy Rate	Average	Minimum	Maximum
Daily	\$98	\$25	\$195
Monthly	\$2,943	\$737	\$5,854

Community Living Fund San Francisco ALF Placements

Source: Community Living Fund, June 2018

CLF program data also provides a snapshot of the full monthly rate charged by ALFs in San Francisco. These rates are broken down in the table below by facility size. On average, the monthly rate for CLF clients is \$4,382. Rates tend to be lower in smaller facilities. The maximum rate for a current CLF client is \$6,856; higher cost is based on increased level of care for clients with more complex needs.

Community Living Fund San Francisco RCFE Placements: Full Monthly Rate by Facility Size	Community Living Fund San Francisco F	RCFE Placements: Full Monthly	v Rate by Facility Size
---	--	-------------------------------	-------------------------

Facility Size	# Clients	Average	Minimum	Maximum
1 to 6	1	\$2,073	\$2,073	\$2,073
7 to 15	0	•		
16 to 49	3	\$3,597	\$2,790	\$4,000
50 to 99	9	\$4,943	\$2,735	\$6,856
100+	9	\$4,339	\$4,339	\$4,339
Total	22	\$4,382	\$2,073	\$6,856

Source: Community Living Fund, June 2018

APPENDIX D. DPH-SUBSIDIZED ALF PLACEMENTS.

DPH provides assisted living subsidies for persons with serious mental illness and San Francisco Health Network members with multiple complex characteristics (e.g., mental health, substance use, medically compromised) with the goal of supporting stability in the most appropriate and least restrictive setting. In total, 561 clients are subsidized for their ALF placements. This appendix provides information about placements by county (i.e., in and out of county placements) and describes the level of care definitions that govern daily rate.

DPH LEVEL OF CARE DEFINITIONS

- Basic: Provides only minimum standard services as laid out in the Title 22 ALF regulations
 - *Examples*: Transport assistance to 1-2 medical appointments per month, basic recreational activities (TV, board games, unstructured access to outdoor space, smoking area)
- **Specialty**: Provides above standard services as laid out in the Title 22 ALF regulations
 - Examples: Transport assistance to 3-4 medical appointments per month; accepts clients with moderate behavioral management issues, minimal-to-moderate redirection, medical conditions that require more time to provide med monitor/oversight (e.g., needs clear direction/cuing for blood glucose check/insulin self-administration), verbally abusive or generally loud clients, clients with hygiene issues; and/or hoarding/clutterers who are not resistant to direction.
- Enhanced: Provides additional staffing, supervision, and other services to address clients with functional impairment that requires enhanced behavioral supports, which are beyond the above categories and are laid out in the Title 22 ALF regulations.
 - Examples: Delayed egress/secure homes, provide unlimited transport assistance, have LVN/RN on staff so can assist with medication administration, most frequently insulin, willing to take O2 concentrators, accept high behavioral clients, such as mod-high redirection/frequent engagements, consistent verbal or threatening behaviors, hospice clients, offer rehab and pre-voc programming on site, offer substance use disorder treatment onsite, high hygiene issues.

DPH PLACEMENTS BY LICENSURE, LEVEL OF CARE, AND COUNTY

DPH Placements in ARF/RCFE – All Counties

Level of Care	ARF	RCFE	Total	Daily Subsidy Rate	Monthly Subsidy Rate
Basic	191	68	259	\$22	\$660
Specialty	77	139	216	\$65*	\$1,950*
Enhanced	12	74	86	\$105	\$3,150
Total	280	281	561		

Source: DPH Transitions, August 2018 *San Francisco rate (out of county rate varies)

DPH Placements in ARF/RCFE – San Francisco

Level of Care	ARF	RCFE	Total	Daily Subsidy Rate	Monthly Subsidy Rate
Basic	191	68	259	\$22	\$660
Specialty	8	29	37	\$65	\$1,950
Enhanced	0	49	49	\$105	\$3,150
Total	199	146	345		

Source: DPH Transitions, August 2018

DPH Placements in ARF/RCFE – Out of County

Level of Care	ARF	RCFE	Total	Daily Subsidy Rate	Monthly Subsidy Rate
Specialty	69	110	179	\$40 to \$70/day	\$1,774
Enhanced	12	25	37	\$91 to \$191/day	\$3,556
Total	81	135	216	•	

Source: DPH Transitions, August 2018

APPENDIX E. ADDITIONAL STRATEGIES.

The Assisted Living Workgroup's Strategies Research Group identified and vetted 16 ways that the City could potentially support ALF capacity in San Francisco. These strategies were evaluated to identify which had the greatest likelihood of meaningfully supporting and/or expanding the City's supply of assisted living using the following criteria:

- **Cost**: What is the estimated cost or cost scale to implement the strategy?
- **Impact**: What level of impact is this strategy likely to have? For example, how many clients could be impacted? Will the strategy significantly improve the ability of ALF operators to stay in business?
- **Timeframe**: How long will it take to implement the strategy and see impact? Is the timeline: short (within six months), moderate (six to twelve months), or long-term (over a year)?
- **Feasibility**: Given competing priorities and needs in the City and State, how likely is the strategy to actually be implemented? Is there a clear path forward to implementation?

In total, eight of the strategies were prioritized as immediate recommendations by the Assisted Living Workgroup. Grouped by overarching strategic area, these ideas are discussed in the body of this report.

This appendix describes the other eight potential strategies identified by the Assisted Living Workgroup's Strategies Research Group. These ideas are categorized by type: business factors, workforce supports, and models of care and payment. These strategies hold promise but may be a heavier lift, require additional discussion to ascertain next steps towards implementation, or have lower (but still potentially meaningful) impact. The City and key partners should review and continue to consider opportunities to pursue these ideas.

BUSINESS FACTORS

LICENSING/REGULATORY CHALLENGES

Strategy	Support with	licensing and/or permitting processes		
Description		ort with state licensing and/or local permitting process, which can be		
		omplex for new applicants. A primary burden is the lengthy state		
	approval timeline.			
Considerations		e options to consider:		
		th initial application (e.g., accuracy, business acumen). The CA		
		of Social Services-Community Care Licensing Division (CDSS-CCL) has		
		past for specialty ALFs, such as dementia and non-ambulatory beds.		
		or CDSS-CCL resources to improve processing time.		
	-	d publicize a "how to" guide (could be developed and promoted in		
		vith CDSS-CCL, 6Beds Inc, OEWD, small business associations)		
		pportunities and support transfer of existing license		
	Note: City services can only advise; business entity remains liable			
Key partners	OEWD, DPH,	Office of Small Business		
Cost scale/	Low	Cost will vary based on method. One-on-one support may be		
estimate		absorbable through existing programs.		
Impact	Low	It is unlikely that many new small facilities will try to newly open – due		
		to large barriers to entry (i.e., cost, processing time) and limited		
		anticipated revenue. The main impact opportunity is likely to support		
		the license transfer process to a new owner, which would provide a		
		big impact for small number of existing residents (option d above).		
Timeframe	Short-term	Could be implemented relatively quickly		
Feasibility	High	Somewhat dependent on strategy/strategies implemented, but most		
		of these ideas can leverage existing resources.		
Priority	Moderate	While unlikely to have significant impact on overall supply, these		
		strategies are relatively low cost and have potential to help at the		
		margin. In particular, the license transfer process (option d) preserves		
		supply for existing clients and mitigates the initial entry barriers.		

CAPITAL-RELATED COSTS

Strategy	Develop busi	ness and/or property tax breaks	
Description	Explore opportunities to reduce costs through local business and property tax policies.		
Considerations	Potentially w	ould want to limit tax break eligibility by facility size or population served	
	(e.g., facilities	s that accept X% low income). Requires additional analysis to determine	
	tax break size	needed to achieve impact. Board and care (B&C) facilities are exempt	
	from busines	s taxes (such as registration fee, gross receipts, payroll, etc.). ¹¹	
Key partners	Controller's C	Office	
Cost scale/	Further	Further analysis needed to identify scale of tax break needed to have	
estimate	research	meaningful impact and corresponding cost to City.	
	required		
Impact	Low	B&C currently receive a business tax break. Property tax break impact	
		dependent on property tax cost; 35% of B&C licensed pre-2000.	
Timeframe	Moderate/	Requires financial analysis (beyond the scope of this project) and then	
	Long-term	would have to go through political/government process to implement	
Feasibility	TBD	Depends on city interest and cost	
Priority	Low	Due to potential cost and amount of time needed to implement	

Strategy	Make City-ow	ned land available for private ALF development		
Description	Make city-owned land available for businesses to build and operate new ALF			
Considerations		This could be limited to ALF operators who commit to serving certain target populations (e.g., percentage of low income, dementia, and/or non-ambulatory residents)		
Key partners	Dept. of Real E Fund	state; Fly Away Home model; Northern California Community Loan		
Cost scale/ estimate	Moderate	Building costs to be incurred by developer/not city, but there is an opportunity cost – what else could land be used for?		
Impact	Moderate	Dependent on size of facility (greater size will have greater impact)		
Timeframe	Long-term	Requires significant time to identify land and interested builders, navigate city process, and then time to construct		
Feasibility	Low	Unclear how much city-owned land is available and appropriate for this type of project (e.g., park space, industrial area). The City has many competing priorities and populations for new development projects, particularly land available for housing construction.		
Priority	Low	Due to potential cost, feasibility, and amount of time needed to implement		

¹¹ California Community Care Facilities Act, Article 7: Local Regulation 1566.2.

OPERATING-RELATED COSTS

Strategy	Compliance of	osts related to labor law		
Description	Explore compliance cost of labor laws and opportunities to streamline, minimize,			
	-	ate costs while still fully complying with requirements (e.g., minimum		
		loyment, other SF specific)		
Considerations	The primary o	cost is increasing minimum wage ¹² . However, there are other costs that		
	the City could	potentially help defray by:		
	a. Continuing	education requirements: Publicize city-funded opportunities for		
	Continuing Ec	Continuing Education Units and make available to ALF operators for a low fee		
	b. Background check costs: Subsidize or cover these costs for small facilities			
Key partners	CCSF			
Cost scale/	Low	CEU estimated cost per year: ¹³ Approximately \$8,400 per year for six		
estimate		beds (\$13,000 per year if all facilities with fewer than 16 beds included)		
Impact	Low-	While these costs (CEU, background check) are not large in comparison		
	Moderate	to labor and mortgage expenses, could be useful for small ALF with lean		
		budget		
Timeframe	Short-term	If funding is made available, funding mechanism could likely be		
		identified relatively easily		
Feasibility	Moderate	Cost is low. Funding mechanism would need to be identified.		
Priority	Moderate	Low cost for City but could be meaningful for small ALFs with lean		
		operating budget.		

Strategy	Joint purchas	ing power	
Description	Small facilities could potentially benefit from joint purchase agreements to develop		
	economies of scale and reduce costs		
Considerations	ALF Workgro	up discussed potential topics (see below) but identified that ALF facilities	
	(through 6Be	ds, Inc) are best suited to identify needs and helpful strategies.	
	Food: Club/	membership model (but how would this be different than Costco?)	
	Insurance: S	mall business coalition; some B&C have found Covered CA to be	
	cheapest opt	ion; could potentially use 6Beds, Inc as non-profit organization to buy in	
	through Non	profits Insurance Alliance Group	
Key partners	TBD		
Cost scale/	Low		
estimate			
Impact	Low	Low cost options are already available through other sources (e.g.,	
		Costco, Covered CA)	
Timeframe	Moderate-	Time required to determine ALF interest and preferred structure,	
	term	identify facilitator, and establish joint venture.	
Feasibility	Moderate	Unclear how this would be facilitated (e.g., establishment of co-op)	
Priority	Low	Unlikely to significantly improve on existing systems and resources that	
		provide this type of purchasing power.	

 ¹² This topic is addressed in Workforce category strategies.
 ¹³ ALF administrators are required to complete continuing education courses every two years. Estimates based on cost estimate of \$350 for 20 in-person and 20 online hours.

WORKFORCE

STAFF HIRING AND RETENTION

Strategy	Sector trainin	ng/workforce development	
Description	Provide training to prepare current and future staff for home care work, reducing a		
	burden for AL	F operators to find and train staff	
Considerations	This could be	an opportunity for City College partnership, perhaps as part of a career	
	ladder progra	m. Existing homecare training programs could potentially be leveraged,	
	such as home	care trainings for IHSS providers. Such a program might provide incentive	
	for larger faci	lities to partner with DPH/DAAS to place clients.	
Key partners	OEWD, HSA V	Vorkforce Development Division, IHSS contractors	
Cost scale/	Moderate	May vary based on mechanism but can be anticipated as ongoing cost	
estimate			
Impact	Low-	From the ALF operator survey, most facilities employ small number of	
	moderate	staff. Historically, small ALFs have often hired family members.	
		However, this this trend may be shifting. Approximately 75% indicated	
		workforce programs designed to onboard new staff would be helpful.	
Timeframe	Moderate-	May vary based on mechanism – leveraging existing training resources	
	term	would be faster than developing new partnerships and curriculum	
Feasibility	Moderate	Potential to leverage existing resources	
Priority	Moderate	The strategy to provide subsidized job placement would provide more	
		support	

MODELS OF CARE AND PAYMENT

PAYMENT STREAMS AND CLIENTS

Strategy	Identify and a	advocate for new additional CMS waiver options	
Description	Analyze alternate Medicaid waiver options, including 1915c and 1115, for applicability		
	and assess fea	asibility for advocating for local application and implementation.	
Considerations	First step will	be to research how other states use other waiver programs and	
	assessing the	ir feasibility for California and San Francisco	
Key partners	DHCS, possibl	y policy bodies such as the California Area Agencies on Aging (C4A), etc	
Cost scale/	Low	The primary cost would be staff time to conduct research. Advocacy for	
estimate		implementation of new waivers could entail new costs. However, as a	
		Medicaid waiver, ALF placement would be covered by Medi-Cal.	
Impact	Low	Would not address current residents (likely a 2-4 year time investment,	
		at the very minimum)	
Timeframe	Long-term	In addition to the initial research, this effort would likely require	
		advocating for state level policy.	
Feasibility	Low	Developing consensus and passage at state level of a separate ALF	
		waiver option would likely be challenging, particularly given existence	
		of ALW program.	
Priority	Low	Clear next steps with possible long-term impact but only if an	
		appropriate waiver and a coalition of advocates are identified	

Strategy	Insurance Pla	ins as Payers of ALF Placements	
Description	Explore opportunities for residents in need of ALF to utilize existing Life Insurance		
	policies as a means of payment, such as swapping Life Insurance for Long Term Care		
	Insurance, and help publicize this option to increase public awareness.		
Considerations	The City's primary role in this area would be to publicize and potentially help educate		
	individuals ab	oout these options. There may be existing advocacy efforts on this topic	
	with which th	e City could partner.	
Key partners	AARP, Leadin	g Age, and representatives of the insurance industry (such as the SF	
	Insurance Pro	ofessionals)	
Cost scale/	Low	Public awareness efforts would likely be low cost. The majority of the	
estimate		cost related to this strategy would be borne by the insurance company	
		or policy holder if/when individuals access benefits.	
Impact	Low	It is unclear how many people would benefit from this resource.	
		Those holding insurance policies are likely not low-income, so need may	
		not be as urgent, and this is on the outer bounds of this project scope.	
Timeframe	Long-Term	Requires developing partnership with new organizations/ profession to	
		better understand the need and options available. Would require	
		outreach to build awareness and have impact; those impacted would	
		likely be City residents who do not actually need this service yet.	
Feasibility	Low	This would require partnering with more experienced agencies or	
		organizations already familiar with insurance.	
Priority	Low	A moderate priority if there already exists an option within existing	
		insurance plans to fund ALW and next steps primarily involve increased	
		outreach to existing policy holders. Considered a low priority if option	
		does not currently exist or it is determined that a limited number of SF	
		residents would benefit from this option.	